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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANTHONY HARRIS,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 12-1453 (JEB)

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA WATER
AND SEWER AUTHORITY,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Thepoet Kahlil Gibran once wrote, “In one drop of waterfatend all the secrets of the
oceans.” In this casPJaintiff Anthony Harriscontendghat insending one or two letters of
complaint, hénas exposed the seceetd improper personnel practices of Ehstrict of
Columbia Water and Sewer Authority, his former empl@et the Defendant heré&uch
disclosure, he believes, precipitated his termination, in violation of both federl.€. hw—
namely, Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, the D.C. Whistleblower Protection Act, the D.C. Family
and Medical Leave Act, and themmmon law of wrongful discharge.

Plaintiff's federal claims were dismissed in earlier stages of this litigation, and Defenda
now moves for summary judgment on the remaining state causes of AWW#W®A maintains
that Plaintiff wagerminated for inncent and legitimate reasons ahdt he never even took
family or medical leave. Agreeing with Defendantboth counts, the @a will grant its
Motion and enter judgment on thase causes of action. Only Harrisisongfultermination

claim stems the tide of WASA’s argument.
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Background

A. Facts

Although courts consider the facts in the light most favorable to non-movants on motions
for summary judgment, here there is no dispute as to the basic underlying ever8s WA
employed Harrigs a Systems Operations Managehe tme our narrative unfoldsSeeMot.,
Attach. 2 (Statement of Material Fa®st in Dispute(SMF)), T 1 Pl. Resp. to SMF] 1 He
was responsible for, among other things, managing WASA'’s computerizecehkance
Management Systerknown to agency employees as “Maxim&éeMot., Attach. 3
(Declaration of Arthur R. Green, Jr.), Exh. 1 (Job Description).

In aJanuary2009 nemotitled “Eliminated Positions WASA identified Plaintiff's
position as one of several tifatay be affected” during thepcomingfiscal year “due to
technological] enhancements and realignment of fundidnGreen Decl., Exi2
(Memorandum of Jan. 30, 2009) at 1. As it turned out, the Systems Operation Manager position
was not eliminated that fiscal year, though the agency continued to desigsaséechndidate for
elimination in intraagency correspa®ence concerning “Projected Eliminated Positions [for]
Department of Maintenance Service” for fiscal years 2010 and 28d4Green Decl., Exh. 3
(Memorandum of Jan. 22, 2010), id., Exh. 4 (Memorandum of Jan. 27). 28&iris
nonethelessemained employed as Systems Operations Manager at the time each of these
memoranda was written.

In early2011, hesentletters to D.C. Mayor Vincent Gray and City Counwimber
Harry Thomas, Jr. complaining of fraud, waste, and abuse at WS&88SMF, { 6; PIl. Resp. to
SMF, 1 6.In his paragraph-lonigtter to the Mayor sent as aemail bearingthe subject

heading “Economic Development’Harris posea series ofquestions that pertain to jobs for



citizens of the District” at WASA SeeOpp., Attach. 8 (Jan. 12011, Email from Plaintiff to
Mayor Gray). He askedvhy “there are no DC residents able to participate in the flow of
economicalsic] advancemefidriven by “[o]ne of the most lucrative and profitable venues in
the city . . . the Water and Wastewateilfaes.” Id. He also asked why “the current
management team at DCWater displaced the current workfamdesuggested that the Mayor
“should investigate the activities” of WASA managemddt. Plaintiff laterexplained that these
complaints were basexh the statements of other employees and on his own views about
WASA'’s compensation and hiring practicéseeSMF, 1 17; Mot., Attach. 4 (Declaration of
Jocelyn R. Cuttino), Exh. 7 (Deposition of Anthony Harris) at 72:3HArris was contacted by
WASA to schedule a méag to discuss thessues he raised in his emt@ilthe Mayoy butthe
agency later canceled their appointment sunch a meeting never occurred. Seeris Depat
24:10-21.

In February 2011Harris also sent a lettgra courierto CouncilnemberThomas
complaining that new hires at WASA were underqualified for their positionthand
independent contractors were being hired improperly from other sggge€uttino Decl., Exh.
8 (Letter from Plaintiff to Harry Thomas, JrRathe than posing questions to Thomas, Plaintiff
complained directly of “poor employment practices” and “nearly criminal thett are
happening.”ld. at 1. Although the substance of his complaints to Thomas mirrored the concerns
raised in his email to the &yor,Harris stated them with greater clarity in the thpege letter,
citing examples of employee terminations he believed were improper and dedthkng
“irrational moves” WASA management hathde. Id. at 1-3.

Eight months later,;oOctober 6, 2011, Plaintiff toakfew days’ leavejesignating it as

“annual leave” on his leave request for®@eeSMF, | 10; Pl. Resp. to SMF, { 10. On October



13, while Harris was stibn leave, WASA sent him a notice imfoing himthat his position was
being abolished through a reduction in fo(@éF) andthathe would be terminated effective
November 14.SeeGreen Decl., Exh. GRIF Noticg. Harris was, indeed, terminated on that
date. Se®l. SMF, | 106.

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed this suit in September of 201rajsing claims otommonkaw wrongful
termination, as well as violations of the D.C. Whistleblower Protection Act,Miitle&l2 U.S.C.
§ 1981, and the D.C. Family and Medical Leave A&¢eECF No. (Complaint) Shortly
thereafter Defendant moved to dismiss the ComplaiteeECF Na 6. In what became a
recurrent practicef missed deadlines throughohts litigation, Harris failed to timly file an
opposition to that motion tasmiss,so the Court granted the motias conceded,; later, after
Harrisexplainedhisfailureto file, the Court granted his motion faraonsideration SeeECF
Nos. 8, 9, 12. @ceit was fully briefed, the Gurt again granted Defendant’®tionto dismiss
this time on the meritsSeeECF No. 1§MTD Order) The Court ruled that Plaintiff had not
sufficiently pled causation under Title VIl or Section 1981, and it declined to exercis
supplemental jurisdiction over his remaining state claims. SeeECF Na 17 (MTD Opinion)
at 1. Harris appealed, and the D.C. Circuit reversed, haldaid?laintiff's allegations could

meetthe causation requirements of his federal claims. Haegs v. D.C. Water and Sewer

Auth., 791 F.3d 65 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

On remandthepartiesinformed the Courthat parallel litigation on Harris’s stalaw
claims had been ongoing in the D.C. Superior Court, and that substantial discovery had been
completed there. (Harris never explained why he had filed essentially the sanre wath

federal and state court.) As a restlie Court held the stataw claims in abeyance pending the



parties’ decision on how to proceed in the Superior Court litigag@eMinute Order of
September 2, 20153/N/ASA then moved for summary judgment on th#eTVII and Section
1981 claims only.SeeECF No. 24. Whehlarris once mae failed to oppose Defendant’s
motion,despitean extension of tim, the Court granted as concedednd entered judgment for
WASA on the federal claimsSeeMinute Order of November 16, 2015.

Next, at a status conferendbe parties agreed that they would like to proceed on the
statelaw claims before this Court. The Court acquiesced and permitted depositimongst
affidavits, and ddarations from theealatedSuperior Court proceedings to be submitted as
evidence in the parties’ briefing here. 3#&aute Order of November 30, 2015. WASA then
moved for summary judgment orethremaining stattaw claims andHarrisactually filed an
opposition this time.

. Legal Standard

Summary judgment may be granted if “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute

as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of lawR. E&d.P.

56(a);see als®Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986); Holcomb v. Powell,

433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C. Cir. 2006). A fact is “material” if it is capable of affecting the

substantive outcome of the litigatioBeeLiberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 248; Holcomb, 433 F.3d at

895. A dispute is “genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could returrcia verdi
for the nonmoving partySeeScott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2004perty Lobby, 477

U.S. at 248; Holcomb, 433 F.3d at 895. “A party asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely

disputed must support the assertion” by “citing to particular parts of materthls record” or
“showing that the materials cited do not establish the absence or presemgemoing dispute,

or that an adverse party cannot produce admissible evidence to support the fact.” Red®R. C



56(c)(1).
When a motion for summary judgment is under consideration, “[tjhe evidence of the non-
movant is to be believed, and all justifialihferences are to be drawnhis favor.” Liberty

Lobby, 477 U.S. at 255ee alsdMastro v. PEPCO, 447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 2006); Aka v.

Wash. Hosp. Citr., 156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 1988pénc). On a motion for summary

judgment, the Cournust “eschew making credibility determinations or weighing the evidence.”

Czekalski v. Petergl75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007). The nonmoving party’s opposition,

however, must consist of more than mere unsupported allegations or denials and must be
supported by affidavits, declarations, or other competent evidence, setting faificpets

showing that there is a genuine issue for trggeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Celotex Corp. v.

Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). The nonmovant is required to provide evidence that would

permit a reasonable jury to find in its favdeeLaningham v. U.SNavy, 813 F.2d 1236, 1242

(D.C. Cir. 1987).
1.  Analysis

Before proceeding to the merits of the remaining dtateclaims, the Court must first
address two preliminary matters: whether it may exercise supplemental jurisdictioinose
claims, and what is to become of the sole datecause of actiomot mentionedn either
party’s briefs here After passing through those antechambers, the Courttiters the main
hall of the parties’ briefing viz, the disputes over the D.C. WPA and FMLA claims.

A. Supplementalurisdiction

As previously explainedJthough Plaintiff originallysought relief fowiolations of both
federal and state lgwhe former have sindeeen dismissed, leaving ordgmmonlaw wrongful

discharge and violations of D.C.’'s WPA and FML8eeCompl., 11 35, 41While this would



typically divest the Court of jurisdiction, hayneverthelesexercise supplemental jurisdiction
over the statéaw causes of actiopursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

Federal district courts are givenpplemental (or “pendentjiirisdictionover state
claims thatform part of the same case or controversy” as federal claims over which they hav

original jurisdiction See28 U.S.C. § 1367(a)eg alsAtchinson v. District of Columbia, 73

F.3d 418, 424 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (“The federal statute providing for supplemental jurisdiction ove
statelaw claims allows a federal district court to retain supplemental jurisdiction otetasta
claims even after dismissing all claims over which it has original jurisdictioBy)the same

token, federal courtdnay decline taexercise supplementgirisdictionover [such] claim([s] . . .

if . . . the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has originsdliction[.]” 28

U.S.C. 8 1367(c)(3). The decision of whether to exercise supplemergdictionwhere a

court has dismissed all federal claims is left to the court’s discretion as fgguadsdictionis a

doctrine of discretion, notgaintiff's right.” United Mine Workerof Americav. Gibbs, 383

U.S. 715, 726 (1966), quoted 3hekoyan v. Sibley Int’409 F.3d 414, 423 (D.Cir. 2005).
When deciding whether to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over state dkdiesl courts
should consider “judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity.” Shekoyan, 409 F.3d at
424.
Herg these factors weigh in favor of retention of the cdsest, the suitvas filed in
2012, and during the intervening years, the Court has developed sigriditalrgrity with the

facts and legal issues present&teSchuler v. PriceaterhouseCooperkLP, 595 F.3d 370,

378 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (finding that district court appropriately retained pendent giosdover
state claims where it hddhvested time and resouréan case). Second, the remaining state

law claims do not involve “unsettled issuef state law” or legal questions “that have never been



addressed by the District of Columbia courtgih. Gen Bankshares, Inc. v. Metzge§80 F.2d

768, 776-77 (D.C. Cir. 1982). Rather, they involve well-settled standards and steilites
known to this Court.Finally, the parties themselves assentethe Court’s exercise of pendent
jurisdiction over the state causes of action at a statuference.SeeECF No. 28 (Order of
Nov. 30, 2015).As the Court canconceive of no undue inconvenience or unfairness to the
litigants that would result fronts adjudication of thelaimsarising under the lasvof the

District, it will exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffienfederal causes of action

B. Count | CommonLaw WrongfulDischarge

Before analyzing the countg which WASA has moved for summary judgment, the
Court must first pause to address sbé&claim on which WASA has not so movedl.e,
wrongful discharge. Plaintiff's inartful pleading may have contributed todhgision. Instead
of breaking out his claims in separate counts, Harris has lumped some togethetarkole, in
Count |, he pleads both wrongful discharge and a violation of the DCV&eACompl., 1 32-
35. In moving for summary judgment, WASA may have overlooked this grouping of claims
indeed, its Motion is not styled as a requespgtialsummary judgmentCuriously, Haris
himself makes no mentidn his briefingof his wrongfultermination cause of action
Notwithstanding its absence from his Opposition, the Court presumes thaiffffdends to
proceed with thiglaim, as he has not elsewhere indicated a desire to voluntarily dismAss it.
WASA has not moved for summary judgment on wrongful discharge, the Court saanot
gponte dispose othat claim. It will thusconsider WASA'’s Motion only as to thi2CWPA and

DCFMLA causes of actian



C. Count I: D.C. Whistleblower Protection Act

Getting to the heart of the matter, the Court now turns to Harris’s state whisteblo
claim. TheDCWPA, like its federal equivalent, is intended “to encourage disclosure of

wrongdoing to persons who may be in a position to act to remedy it.” Wilbistyict of

Columbia, 957 A.2d 921, 925 (D.C. 2008) (quotation marks, citation, and emphasis omitted).

TheAct permits District employees to “function as the ‘eyes and ears’ of Districiyargy

without fear of retribution Williams v. District of Coumbia, 9 A.3d 484, 490 (D.C. 2010)

(citation omitted).It provides that a “supervisor shall not takethreaten tdake a prohibited
personnel action or otherwise retaliate against an employee because gblthgeers protected
disclosure.” D.C. Code. § 1-615(a3

To state grima facie claim under th®© CWPA, a plaintiff must “establishfjhat she
made a protected disclosure, that a supervisor retaliated or took or threatenea fortéiieited
personnel action against her, and that her protected disclosure was a contribtdirtg tae
retaliationor prohibited personnel action.” Wilburn, 957 A.2d at 94 plaintiff establishes
these three elements, “[t]he burden then shifts to the defendant to show landleanvincing
evidence that the adverse employment act would have taken place even if plaghtitft

engaged in protected activity.” Winderbtste 905 F. Supp. 2d 19, 33 (D.D.C. 2012)

(quotation marks and citation omitted). If the defendant makes such a showing, the lbemden t

shifts back to the plaintiff to demonstrate that the explanation was r&teXeeid.

Harris contends that his letters to the Mayor and Coueailber Thomas werdferts to
“report[] the suspected illegal and fraudulent and wasteful acts perpetydf¢dBA” and hence
constitute protected activity; he further believes that this activityeiseasoWASA terminaed

him. SeeOpp. at 25-29 Defendant rejoins that Harris’s letters do not constitute &otetl



disclosures” under the DEPA, and, even if they did, he has failed to establish that they caused
his termination.SeeMot. at 7-12. The Court addresses eatlhese elementseparately.
1. Protected Disclosure
Under the DCWPA, a protected disclosure

means any disclosure of information, not specifically prohibited by
statute, without restriction to time, place, form, motive, context,
forum, or prior disclosure made to any person by an employee or
applicant, including a disclosure made in the ordinary course of an
employee’s duties by an employee to a supervisor or a public body
that the employee reasonably believes evinces
A. Gross mismanagement;
B. Gross misuse or waste of public resources or funds;
C. Abuse of authority in connection with the administration
of a public program or the execution of a public contract;
D. A violation of federal, state, or local law, rule, or
regulation, or of a term of a contract . . . or
E. A substantial and specific danger to the public health and
safety.

D.C. Code § 1-615.53)(6) “The eligibility of a disclosure forrptection under the DCWPA
thus hinges not upon whether the” conduct of the D.C. government ageasyftimately
determined to be illegal, but whether appellansoeably believed it was illedabr constituted

gross misconduct, abuse, fraud, or wageeFreeman v. District of Columbi®0 A.3d 1131,

1141 (D.C. 2012) (quotation marks and citation omittéd).employee’s “reasonable belief
turns on whether a disinterested observer with knowledge of the essential facistdrama
readilyascertainable by the employee corddsonably conclude that the aas of the

government evidence illegality, gross abuse, etc.” Saanh vDistrict of Columbia 846 F.

Supp. 2d 247, 260 (D.D.C. 2012) (quotation markafioih, and alterations omitted)A purely
subjective perspective of an employee is not sufficient even if sharetdryemployees.”

Zirkle v. District of Columbia830 A.2d 1250, 1260 (D.C. 2003) (citation omitted).

10



For Harris’s actions- here, hidetters toformerMayor GrayandformerCouncilmember
Thomas -to canstitute protected disclosurdse must demonstrate that the facts known to him at
the timehe sent thee missivesvould reasonably have lem disinterested observer to conclude
thatWASA was engagingn grossmismanagementr the like. Inassessing whethétarris
madeprotected disclosures, the Court considers the complaints raisedettéhsthemselves
Plaintiff's deposition testimony is also instructive as to his motivations for writing the two letters
andthe bases or, more often than not, lack thereof — of his suspicions about WASA'’s alleged
misconduct.

In his letters, Harris raisetireecomplaints: that WASA replaced qualified employees
with unqualified onesthat itimproperly hired and used contractors; and ithat
disproportionately fird blackemployees.The Courtwill dip into each streamf arguments in
turn.

a. Replacement of Qualified Employees

The predominantomplaintin Harris’sletterswasthat WASA hired unqualified
individuals —and in particular replaced qualified emplogs with lessjualifiedsuccessors.

See, e.g.Thomad_ etterat 1 (complaining that WASA'’s “newegime was dispensing with
qualified individuals for no more reasonirgyc] than they ld a position that was ‘at will'’ and
the new regime had someone in mind to fill the position. . . [who] tssjept proven to be

gualified to fill the positions); see als@ray Email(*Why has the current management team at

DCWater displaced the cuneworkforce. . .?. He later explained that Head reached out to
city officials because he believed that “the regulations were being ignorg@dnd] there were

people being dismissed only because they, you know, could not perform because there was no

11



standard to perform to.” Harris Dep. at 23:2-Tbnstruing these liberally, Plaintiff appears to
complain of regulatory violations and gross mismanagement in his letters.

As to theformer, however, Plaintiff testified that he did not know whichulegjors, if
any, governed how a position could be filled at WASeeSMF, § 21; Harris Dep.at61:13-20
PIl. Resp. to SMF] 21. From theyetgo, then, the Court is skeptical that Plaintiff could form an
objectively reasonable belief that any relevant regulations bengviolated.

As to the latterHarrisadmittedin his deposition that he did not have knowledge of the
facts and circumsta@es surrounding the terminationstioé employees he believed should not
have been firedSee, e.g.Harris Dep. at 44:1924. For instancearris’sletter toThomas
complained that “it appears fraudulent [for WASA] to have released” Gordon Fhyarda
Greer, and Everett Lalli®r “not being on board with the newrection” when, Harris states
“there is no new direction.” Thoméaetter at2. But in his depositioklarrisacknowledgedhat
he had never seen former SgfBirector Everett Lallis’s CV and was simgigretty sure he was
very well qualified.” SMFJ 22; Pl. Resp. to SMHM] 22; Harris Dep. at 42:19-2ZPlaintiff also
admittedthat he was “not totally aware of why [Lallis] was let gobeyond hearing that union
leaders were unhappy withm —andwas not familiar with the qualifications of Lallis’s
replacement, SeeMF, 11123-25 Pl. Respto SMF,{23-25 Harris Dep. atl4:7-11, 47:2-21;
see alsad. at 46:19-21 (answering in the negative the question whether Harris had any reason to
believe Greer’s successor is less qualified than Greer).

Thesetypes of admissions suggdisat Plaintiff had, at mosé subjective belief of
misconducin WASA's hiring practices- not an objective one, as required by the statdteris
does notnarshal any other facts or evidence to which he hagsadbat could have supported a

reasonabléelief that WASA was firing qualified employees and replacing tivem

12



unqualified ones er that such a practice violated any relevant laws or regulations. See

Rodriguez v. District of Columbia, 124 A.3d 134, 142-43 (D.C. 2015) (grantinghamyn

judgment to employer on DEPA claim where plaintiff's protected disclosures at most evinced
a “subjective belief” that employer’s actions “would jeopardize [its] alditgccomplish its
mission” but such actions were within employer’s discretion and supported by objectively
legitimate reasonssee alsa@’homas Letteat 1 (suggesting that Plaintiff's letter will “as$jst
[WASA] in its efforts to accomplish its stated mission”).

Rathersoakedin hyperboleas they arearris’sletters seem to havenerely giv[en]his
opinion on a policy issue” ke, the new direction of WASA’s management and attendant

personnel decisionsSeeHawkins v. Boone, 786 F. Supp. 2d 328, 334 (D.D.C. 2011) (holding

that “entering a debate about a ttomersial issue” did not constitute protected disclosure).
Harris may not havapplauded WASA'’s personnel decisions, but a sirdgagreement
betweera District employer andmployeedoes not supply the latter wishDCWPA claim. See
Zirkle, 830 A.2d at 1260 (“The WPA is not a weapon in arguments over policy.(citatjon

omitted); District of Columbia v. Poindextel04 A.31 848, 855 (D.C. 2014) (“[D]ebatable

differences obpinion concerning policy matters are not protected disclosures. Ratter,
lawful agency policy to constitute ‘gross mismanagement,” an employeealiacisise such
serious errors by the agency that a conclusion the agency erred is not debadalle a
reasonable people. The matter must also be significant.”) (Quotatios aratlcitation omitted).
The Court, therefore, concluddmat “a reasonable juror with knowledge of the essential
facts known to and readipgscertainable by” Plaintiff couldot find that his letters “disclosed an

objectively serious governmental act of gross mismanagem€ptéman v. District of

Columbia, 794 F.3d 49, 58 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quotation marks and citation omitted).

13



undisputed record evidenassteaddictatesthe conclusion that Harris’s complaints to the city
aboutthe purportediring of qualified persons anitie hiring of unqualified candidategere not
“protected disclosures” within theeaning of the statute.
b. Independent Contractors

The second issue Harris raised in his letteas that WA® hired and used independent
contractors improperlySeeThomad_etter at 2 (asserting that “[b]illioref dollars of District of
Columbia rate payers’ money [is] being spent” on contracts “with little if anyiy®social
economic return to the DC community”); Harris Dap23:2-7 (estifying that Harrigold the
Mayor in his letter that “DC residentagemployees [were] being displaced in their job and . . .
being replaced with out-of-town contractors”). WASA rejoins that Harris had no imaelve
with the hiring of contractors and thus could not have been familiar with the agency’s
contracting procagtes. SeeMot. at 10. It alsopoints out that Harris has not identified any
documentation corroborating his belief that out-of-town, rather thanb€al contractors were
hired — or that, even if such hiring did occur, it violated any extant laws or regislafeeid.

Harris makes no real effort to rebut these contentions. On the contréegtihed that
he “ha[d] no idea” which contractors wdrged from out otatebut knew only that “there were
SO many contractors coming in at tirae” and some of them had out-stfate license plates on
their cars SeeHarris Dep. a79:17-22, 80:1-19. Perhaps most telling, when asked whether
there was a regulation that required that those contractors come from tharda Plaintiff
answered in theegative and admitted it wasst his view thatsome” of the new contractors
should hail from the regionSeeid. at 81:8-15. The only policy he points to that may lend
support to that view is WASA'’s generafa@ts to hire local businesses with dsntract dollars

Yet he presents the Court with a letter sent by a WASA official to Mayor, Gpgarently in a

14



follow-up to Harris’s email, in which the agency explained that approximaiéty of WASA'’s

contracts in fiscal year 2009 were awarded to Diskrated firms and small business enterprises

— inexcesf WASA’s 50% goal for spending discretionary dollars with local busine$ses.

Opp., Attach. 10 (Feb. 1, 2010, Letter from Katrina Wiggins to Vincent Gray) at 1.
Harrisattempts tanuster fatual support byiting to a public webse that, hecontends,

confirms hisbelief in WASA's contracting improprietiesSeeOpp. at 27. Yet the plicly

available WASA budgets posted tiratwebsite offemo information abouthe agencys

practices for aarding independent contracts, how those practices are constrained by regulation,

or the impact of WASA'’s contracts on the D.C. communfge e.q, FY 2009DC Water

Budget in Briefavailable ahttp://www.dcwater.com/budget (last visited Mar. 11, 2016, at 4:38

p.m.). h any event, Harrisaes not aver that he visited tisite before writing the letters he now
conends are protected disclosurdaen if he hadinsofar aghe basis for Harris’s belief in
WASA'’s misconduct is publicly availableformation, then the activitieseven if mproper —
were “already broadly known [such that] they could not be protected disclosuadsy’vT

District of Columbia 605 F. Supp. 2d 89, 98 (D.D.C. 2009).

What seems to motivate Harris’s objecttolVASA's use of contractors is his
conviction —buttressed by at leagheof the agency’s employeeghat some terminated
employeesduties (including his own) are now being performechéw contract employees.
SeeOpp. at 27; id., Exh. B (Declaration of Timothy M. Morsell, Saygringthat four contract
employees and one WASA employee now perform Harris’s former dutidfsjourse, this does
not mean thatVASA'’s actions were ocould reasonably have been perceived to be illegal or to

constitute gross misamagementSeeMentzer v. Lanier677 F. Supp. 2d 242, 250 (D.D.C.

2010) (“[G]ross mimmanagement requires theaclaimed agency error in the adoption of, or

15



continued adherence to, a policy be a matter that is not debatable among reasonable people
(quaation marks and citation omittedNothing in the recorthdicates thaWASA's shuffling
of responsibilities among new and old employees, and among independent contrastors,
inappropriate, fraudulent, or wastefuh fact, Harris admits thaASA'’s IT department could
not have implemented key improvements to Maximo, the agency’s computerized mamagem
systemwithout the help of contractors — suggesting &éwan he recognizes tHAfASA’s use of
contractors was both necessary and profeeHarris Dep. afL10:12-15. The undisputed facts
thusagain demonstrat@at Harris had no objective basis for his belief that WASA'’s hiring of
independent contractoe®nstituted gross mismanagement
c. Firing of Black Employees

Harris’s thirdand firal complaint isthat WASA disproportionately fireblack
employees.To begin, there is a threshold question about whethevére sufficiently
complained of this in his letters. The allegat®ceompletely absent from his lengtimyssiveto
Councilmember Thomas; there, his concerns were about terminated employabsatioas
and places of residence, not their racBse Court acknowledge$iowever, that Harris at least
rhetoricallyposed the question in Hisief email to Mayor Gray.SeeGray Email(asking why
“the current management team at DCWater displaced the current workforce (necAfvean
American). . . .[and]dismis$ed] any and nearly all Africa#\merican Directors and/Managers
[sic] who would have the power affeci¢] budgetingilmoney) or hiring (personnel)?”)The
reader will recall, however, that the titétheemail was “Economic Development,” and it is
clear that this is the focus of the messaigepens with a question about contracting practices
that Harris believes have hurt D.C. residents and ends with his suggestion thaydhe Ma

investigate WASA's practices which, he alleges, leave its local constituentsll{sand

16



economically distutgsicl.” 1d. While he now seeks to recast those concerns in a new light, his
DCWPA claim must rest on the purportedly protected disclosures at the time tleegnade.

SeeBowyer v. District of Columbia, 910 F. Supp. 2d 173, 195 (D.D.C. 2018 basidor

determining the nature of charges that a putative whistleblower has made aas&ethersss in
his complaint to a supervisor or public body, not his subsequent characterization of those
statements in litigation.”) (quotation marks, citation, and alterations omitted).

Evenif Harris had directly complagdin his lettersof racebased discrimination by
WASA, those complaints would only be protected disclosures if he had an objectasdnable
basis for them. To that enlaintiff insists that he “had been at WASA for so long . . . [that he
was] in a position to see the changing demographics at WASA” caused by, he believes
“WASA'’s use of contractors to force out lotigae employees, especially Black employees.”
Opp. at 27.While Harris’s history with the agency might has#orded him a unique
perspective, he neveroffersanyfacts or evidence that could have supported a reasdneliEé
that the demographics at WASA dibange, and that such changes were the result of illegal
activity or gross mismanagement. In other words, even if Harris was in a gooedrnpmsgpot
racially discriminatory personnel practices, the record does not reficirtia such practices
were occurring.

Harristestified that he was awaoé black employees who were replaced by wd)itand
this led him to “question whether or not the practices” and “circumstances” uhadr WASA
removed them “may not be racially motivated.” Harris Ded.1&t219. Pressed to identify
these black employegsoweverHarriscould name only “Lallis, Greer, Thornahd “[t]he
James guy.”Harris Dep. at 115:9-16.Léter, he acknowledged that Greer was actually replaced

by another black employedd. at 116:1-2.)Harris never argues that the employees he named
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were targeted for termination because of their,racéhat there were not other, non-black
employees who were terminateBeyond this anecdotal evidertbata handful of black
employees wereeplaced by white orse moreoverHarris idertifies nothingin the record that
would suggest to an objective observer th&3X was acting in discriminatory fashiomn fact,
the evidence he submits suggests just the oppdsILESA’s Assistant General Manager
reported that “the percentage oinrity officials and administrators” at WASA “hascreased
by 2% since June 2009 [and i]n general, the representation of minorities enteigeseas
remained riatively constant since 2009.” Wiggihetter at 2see alsad. (“The charge that
[WASA] has dismissed nearly all Africelimerican directors and managers who would have the
power to affect budgeting and hiring is inaccurate. . . [Of the p]lersonnel changes . . . none have
negatively impacted the AfricaAmerican population. . . .”).

Ultimately, what prevents Harris’s letters from acting as the protected disclosures he
would like them to be is his failure to provide @bjectivelyreasonable basis for the conceras h
raises therein Without identifying grounds for his complaints beyond his personal
dissatisfaction with the “nearly tyrannical rule” of WASA’s managemeatyigicannot hope to
anchor a D&V/PA claim tohisletters. SeeThomas Letteat 3. With no jury question on the
issue of protected disclosure, consequently, WASA may obtain entry of judgment ayutitis ¢

2. Causation

Even if Plaintiffscommunications to the Mayor and Counw@mberdid constitute
protected disclosures, WASA argues that it would still be eshtidesummary judgment on his
DCWPA claim. In doing soDefendant advances the alternativel independerargument that
Harris cannot establish that those protected disclosaresedhe adverse employment actien

here, his termination. The D.C. Court of Appeals has explainet{¢fatsationis all-
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important, because while amployee makes prima facie case by showing that the protected
disclosure was a contributing factor to the disciplinary actigfactfinder] must find airect

causal linkin orderfor there tobe liability” under the D&/PA. Johnson v. District of

Columbia, 935 A.2d 1113, 1119 (D.C. 2007) (quotation marks and citation omittiee).
causation element izbnsistent with the policy that a whistleblemstatute shields an employee
only to the extent the record supports a finding that he would notdegvedisciplined except

for his status as a whistleblower.” Crawford v. District of Columbia, 891 A.2d 216, 222 (D.C.

2006) (quotation marks and citation omitted). Importantly, “mere suspicion coupled w&h me
possibility is not evidence of causation.” Johnson, 935 APt120.

According to Plaintiff, he was terminated for writing letters exposing WAS¥dste,
fraud, and abusehat, after all, is the gravamef his DGNVPA claim Whenaskedduring his
depositionwhy he believedn this alleged comection between his termination and the
complaints he hadoiced Harrisresponded: “I believe that it was too coincidental that | had a
RIF telling me that | was my position was a reductiam force.” Harris Dep. at27:6-11.He
explained that because lesition was not “at will,” he could be fired only for cause, and so
“they come up with this one person RIF . . .. So yes, | made the assumption that it had been
because” of his letters. Sekat127:15-22, 128:1:6ee alsad. at 138:20-139:3 (answering
“No” when asked;[O]ther than what you thought was a coincidence of being on the RIF list, is
there any other reason you believe your termination was connected to your ntsripltie
mayor and city council?”).

In moving for smmary judgment, Defendant argubataside from Harris’snurky
suspicions of a “coincidence,” there isemdence that he was terminated because of his two

letters. SeeMot. at 12 The Court concurs. To begidarristestified that no one at WASA ever
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told him he was being terminated because of his complaint letters, and that he newehaand
any communications to that effe@eeHarris Depat 131:4-10. There is thus no direct
evidence of causation.

Nor is there circumstantial evidence atausal link. Tierecorddemonstrates that
Harris’s position was identified falimination viaa reduction in force in January 2009, two
yearsprior to his complaint lettersSeeMemorandum of Jan. 30, 20Q€éentifying fifteen
positions for eliminationincluding Plaintiff's. To the extent he might argue that the RIF was
effectuateconly after his complaints and only against him — he is wrong. Plaintiff wasthet
victim of a “one-person RIF”; in fact, he later acknowledged that WASA terminated others,
including his supervisor and director, on the same day that hietngs SeeHarris Dep. at
131:12-21(“[E]verybody was being replaced on that particular.di&ly supervisor and my
director were all being replacél.see als®pp.,Attach. 24(Declaration of Warren McHenry)
11 28 (stating that he was Harris’s immediate supervisor; that he was notified thpositsch
was being abolished” on October 13, 2011; and that McHenry’s immediate supervisoréhad be
summarily terminated ithe same way that [he] had been terminated” on the sameCidiio
Decl., Exh. 10 (Deposition of Arthur Richard Green, Jr.) at 35:8-13 (explaining that RIFs
occurred because of “technology and reassignment of work duties”).

Nor is this a case where tporal proximity between protected disclosures and
termination muddies the waters.ight months passed between the latieHarris’s letters in
February 2011 and his receiptradtice of his terminatiom October 2011 00 much time to
raise the specteff gausation SeeJohnson, 935 A.2d at 1120 (holding that four-mdath
between protected disclosures and adverse employment action was too long tarpermit

inference of causationgf. Taylor v. Solis, 571 F.3d 1313, 1322 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (ttedhree
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month lag between protected activity and adverse employment action was tom éstegtish
an inference of retaliatory motive in Title VII contexivenwhen an employee suffers an
adverse employment actioery shortly afte his protected disclosures, suemporal proximity
alone cannot establish causation where there is also “explicit evidence of amirexgdanation
of the event.”_Johnson, 935 A.2d at 112:re, Defendant has consistently proffered a
reasonabl@xplanation for Harris’s reduction in force: his duties were rendered obsplete
redundanby advancements in the agency’s computerized managsystam(Maximo), and
his department wagherefore substantially downsized.

In light of the eightmonth time lapse betwedime puported protected disclosures and the
termination the legitimate explanation for that terminatitime evidence that the termination was
anticipaed long before the disclosures, and the lack of any additional circumstantia¢or ot
evidence linking the dclosures to the termination, Plaintiff simply cannot satisfy the substantial
showingof a “direct causal linktequired for relief under the DEPA. Hissuspicions of an
improper coincidencenust succumio thisstrong tideof legitimate justifications ahthe

chronologyof events. SeeMcCormick v. District of Columbia752 F.3d 980, 985-86 (D.C. Cir.

2014)(“[W] e cannot conclude that the plaintiff has provided evidence of causation sufficient to
survive summary judgmeéenivhere there was a tamonth lapsdetween proteetd disclosures
and termination and where plaintiff could provide no “circumstantial or other evidénce

retaliatory causation.”see alsdMentzer 677 F. Supp. 2d at 257 (granting suamynjudgment to

Defendant on D@/PA claim where plaintis “fail[ed] to identify a chain of specific actions to
temporally connect their protected activities to their adverse agtioAs such, the Court
concludes that WASA is entitled to summary judgmenPlamntiff’'s DCWPA claimbased on its

alternative heoryas well.
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D. Count lll: D.C. Family and Medical Leave Act

WASA also moves for summary judgment on Count lll, which alleges violations of the
D.C. Family and Medical Leave ActThe DCFMLA was designed to ensure job security and
health benefits to an goyee during a temporary period of absence resulting from a . . . serious

health condition.” Chang v. Institute for PubRecivate Partnerships, In@46 A.2d 318, 326

(D.C. 2004) (quotation marks omitted) (citing legislative history)ké its federdcounterpart,
the DCFMLA recognizes two theories for recovertheretaliation or discrimination theory and

the entitlement or interference thedryWashington Convention Ctr. Auth. v. Johnson, 953 A.2d

1064, 1075-76 (D.C. 2008) (quotation marks and citation omjited)alsd.C. Code § 32-
507(b)(1) (retaliation)id. 8 32-507(a)interference) Although his briefing is a bit unclear on
this point, Plaintiff appears to advance both.

To make out g@rima facie case under an ietference or entitlement theory, a plaintiff
would need to establish that Esployer “interfere[d] with, restrain[ed], or den[ied] the exercise

of or the attempt to exercisay right” afforded hinby the DCFMLA. Washington Convention

Ctr. Auth., 953 A.2d at 1076 (quoting D.C. Code 8§ 32-507(a)). If an employer interferes with an
employee’s substantive rights under the statute, such aghisto medical leave or to
reinstatement following such leave, “a deprivation of this right is a violatiardegs of the
employer’s intent.”ld. at 1076 (quotation marks and citation omitte@ihe interferencéheory

may entitle a plaintiff toelief wherean employer hagiolated the DCFMLA mandate that “an
employee returning from medical leave will be reddrethe same position which that

employee held when the leave began, or to an equivalent position.” Harrison v. Child&n’'s N

Med. Ctr., 678 A.2d 572, 575 (D.C. 1996gealsoD.C. Code 8§ 32-505(d). It bears noting,

however, that the DCFMLA “simply does not force an employer to retain an yaegiewho is]
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on FMLA leave when the employer would not have retained the employee had the enmolbye

been on FMLA leave."Washington Convention Ctr. Auth., 953 A.2d at 1077 (citabioritted).

To establish @rima facie case under a retaliation or discrimination theory, conversely,
“a plaintiff must demonstrate that: (1) she was engaged in a protected activiigy, éployer
took an adverse employment action; and (3) there waasatconnection between the to.

Chang, 846 A.2d at 328ee als@\lford v. Providence Hosp., 945 F. Supp. 2d 98, 108 (D.D.C.

2013) (same). “[T]aking FMLA leave constitutes a ‘protected activityd[a@rmination
constitutes an ‘adverse employment decision.” Chang, 846 A.2d at 329 (citation amitted)
Under this theory, “a plaintiff bears the initial burden of producing evidence tarsagiama
facie case. Ifthe plaintiff meets this burdethe employer must then produce evidence of a
legitimate,nondiscriminatory reason for haestion. If the employer offers [such a] reason, the
burden then shifts back to the plaintiff to present evidence that the employefesqaatason is

pretextual.” 1d. (citation omitted) (applyindpurden-shifting framework from McDonnell

Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (19T@DCFMLA claims).

Defendanurgesthe Court tagrantit judgment orHarris’sDCFMLA claim becauseit
contends, he cannot satisfy theeshold requirement common to both theories of relief —
namely, hat he took DEMLA leave. SedéViot. at 12-13. Oddly, Harris does rdbtectly
contest WASA’'gpositionthat his leave was not covered by si@tutehis Oppositioninstead,
simply seems taake for granted that he to@CFMLA leave before being fired. S€¥pp. at
32-33. Indeedhe briefmerely repeats, without supporting evidence or analygdelief that
his “rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act” were violated. ibed 32. Even if he
had contested the issue, the Coettdves Harris has not cleartte DCFMLA’sS most basic

hurdle.
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To avail himself of the protections of the FMLA, an employee repstifically take
FMLA leave;naturally,all absences from work and &Jpes of leavare not coveredThe D.C.
Court of Appeals has explained:

Subject to some limitations,. . leave may be taken intermittently
when medically necessary. .However, the employee must request
such leave. Under the applicableegulations, employees must
notify their employers of their dee to take medical leave (&%
soon as possible prior to the date on which thel@yep wishes the
leave to beginwhen the need for leave was not reasonably
foreseeable deast thirty daysn advanceor (2) not later than two

[] busines days after the absence bedfren emergencyprevents

an employee from notifying the employer of the need for [family or]
medical leave prior to the first day of ase.

Hamilton v. Howard Univ., 960 A.2d 308, 316-17 (D.C. 2008) (quotation marks and citations

omitted) The DCFMLA providesfurthermorethat employerSmay require” that a request for
leave under the statute “be supported by a certification issued by the healbnosader of the
employee.”D.C. Code § 32-504(a3ee alsad. § 32-504(b) (“The certification . . . shall state:
(1) The date on which the serious health condition commenced; (2) The probable duration of the
condition; (3) The appropriate medical facts within the knowledge of the heaitprostider
that would entitle the employee to take leave under this chapter; and (4) . . . arsttitatthe
employee is unable to perform the functions of the employee’s positidng) statute’s
implementing regulations clarify that an employee “shall submit the requestetagotif to the
employer within fifteen days, unless it is not practicdbtehe employee to do so under the
particular circumstances, despite the employee’s diligent,-fpthdefforts.” 4 D.C. Mun. Regs.
§ 1615.2.

WASA has preided the Court with Harris’s Leave Request Form, dated October 5, 2011
— 8 days before he wastifeed of the RIF—in which he requests “Annual Ledvior sixteen

hours. SeeGreen Decl., Exh. 5The form asks employees to identify the type of leave requested
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andinstructsthemto fill out a separatsectionof the form if they wish to take “AUTHORED
FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)” leave, which includes a box where
employeesnay indicate,| am requesting Authorized FMLA.Id. The form further states that
“FMLA Application and Certification of Health Care Provider must accomphisyréeques”

Id.

Plaintiff does not deny that he selected “Annual Leave” insteaBMfA leave’ and
that he did not check the baffirmatively declaringthat he wasequesting FMLA leave. Nor
does he produce any other Leave Request Form covering the period of his absemarkrom
which such box is checked. He states only that he took “approved leave for medical purposes,”
Opp. at 33, but not that ludficially designated that leave BMLA leaveor requested that it be
considered as suchWhile his Opposition mentions in passing that he was on leave “to enter the
hospital for an irpatient surgery,id., it identifiesno documentation suggestitigata medical
procedure — or any other serious meaticondition— was the reason for his absenadks
Defendant aptly noteST here is no evidence whatsoever to suggest that Plaintiff notified DC
Water, or that DC Water was aware, that Plaintiff needed leave for medical reakendie
filed his October 2011 Leave Request forBeeMot. at 13.

Harris also does not dispute that WASA exercised its right under the DCFRHLA a
related regulationt require medical certification before authoriziagve under the statute. He
does not argue that he did, in fact, provide such certification for his DCFMLA leavat dret
made “diligent, good-faith efforts” to do so. Nor, indegadlany of the materiain the record
lend credence to the notitimat either is true The only possibly relevant evidence Hsrri
presents on this issue is a portion of his deposition testimony in which he staketab&t“like

three days” of FMLA leave in October 2011 but makes no mention of the required medical
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certificationor leave request formSeeHarris Dep.at 136:13-16. Indeed, in response to
Defendant’sposition that he “took annual leave without designating it as sick leave or FMLA
leave,” SMF, 1 10, Harris stated that he “does not dispute that Plaintiff used aamadblea
scheduled in-patient surgery.” Pl.$peto SMF, | 10.

In short, Plaintiff's submissions do not establish thaadtaally took DCFMLA leave or
provided the necessary certification required by WASA employees wheaestatgit. Nor does
Harris disputethathis failure to provide theertification requested by his employgan
impediment to recoverigere As such, the Court must agree with Defendant that Harris did not
carry his burden to prove a questmfimaterial facexisted as to whethéis absace from work
in October 2011 wagrotected byhe DCFMLA. This means that Harris caot establishthat
WAGSA interfered with, restrained, or denied the exercise of any ngbtsded bythe

DCFMLA, seeWashington Convention Ctr. Auth, 953 A.2d at 1075,that he was engaged in

“protected activity’under the statute when he was fir&keChang 846 A.2d at 329. Without
the protected leave thiirms the foundation of any theory of relief afforded byBiE-FMLA,
Harris’sclaim evaporates.

E. Remaining Arguments

Although the foregoing analysis sufficient to grant [2fendant summary judgment on
thesecauss of actionthe Court briefly addresses a tangerisalie that occupies a significant
portion ofHarris’s briefing He arguest length in his Opposition that WASA did not follow its
own reductionin-force proceduresmplying that itstermination of higosition by RIF was
pretextual. SeeOpp. at 29. This argument, however, takes Plaintiff nowhere for two reasons:

First, a showing of pretext is required only at the third step in the McDonnell &oligtden-

shifting framework that governs rétdion claims under the DCFMLAAS previously
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explaineda plaintiff must first make outgrima facie case, then the defendant must provide
evidence of a legitimate reason for theede employment action, and only then should a
plaintiff provide evidence of pretexGeeChang, 846 A.2d at 329. Harris’s claim fails at step
one, making any discussion of a pretextual RIF irrelevant.

The same goes for his DCWPA claifin order to survive a summary judgment motion

under theMcDonnell Douglagsramework as applied to the District of Columbia whistleblower

statute, a plaintiff must challenge the motion for summary judgment with a proffémegsable
evidence that his protected actyvwas a contributing factor in his adverse employment actions.”
McCormick 752 F.3d at 985 (quotation marks, citation, and alterations omitted). Then, “the
presentation of prima facie case shifts the burden of proof to a defendant employer,” but where
a plaintiff “has not establishedpaima facie case, . . . the burden does not shift’ As to
Harris’'s DCWPA claimtherefore any discussion of a pretextual RIF would also be jumping the
gunl

Second, the regulatiotisatHarris contends that WASA failed to follow concern

rehiring not firing. SeeOpp. at 29-30 (“Harris had priority reemployment rights. . . [but]

WASA was able to accomplish its scheme of denying Mr. Harris his employigkts by

L Unlike federal Title VII claims, which require the Court to considerghea facie case alongsidguestions of
pretext in a holistic fashion at the summarggment stage, the DCWPA and DCFMIp&rmit a court to grant an
employer summary judgment where the plaintiff fails to satisfietements of higrima facie case CompareBrady

v. Office of Sergeant at Arm$20 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008)n aTitle VIl disparatereatment suit where an
employee has suffered an adverse employment action and an employer has assgittethte, nomiscriminatory
reason for the decision, the district coneied noand should netiecide whether the plaintiff actually made out a
prima facie case undé&tcDonnell Dougla% at summary judgment.with Coleman v. District of Columbia, 794 F.3d
49, 54, 62 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (explaining that DCWPA “prescribdsstinct burdershifting framework to govern the
proof of whistleblowing claims” that differs from Title VIi$ee als@Butler v. D.C. Hous. Fin. Agen¢%93 F. Supp.
2d 61, 65n.9 (D.D.C. 2009)(“No court has decided yet whethgrady . . . applies to clams under FMLA or
DCFMLA."); but seeMiles v. Howard Univ,. 83 F. Supp. 3d 105, 121 (D.D.C. 20{&)plying, without analysis, that
Bradyapplies to DCFMLA claims).
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failing and refusing to notify him of any vacant positions in Maintenancer’gss$ence, then,
hisargument relates to the agency’s supposaaton of his reemployment rightsan issue
entirely separate froinis claim thahe wagerminatedor taking family or medical leaver
blowing the whistle. If WASA did fail to follow the District’s applicable rehgriregulations- a
guestion the Court has no need to answbere may be administrative or statutory remedies
available to Plaintiff. The DCFMLANd the DCWPA, however, provide no relief float
failure. WASA is enitled to judgment on Harris’s D.C. statutariaims, and the Court will so
rule.
V. Conclusion

Although Plaintiff may subscribe to W.C. Fields’s dictum that “You can’t trus¢mwa
Even a straight stick turns crooked in it,” the @aannot agree that WASA has acted crookedly
here. It will, accordingly, issue an Order granting Defendant’s MotioSdonmary Judgment
as to Count | in part and Couit in full. As Count Il has already been dismissed, all that

remains of this actiors Plaintiffs commorlaw wrongfuttermination clainset forthin Count 1.

/s/ James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: March 28, 2016
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